IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

1981) Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1984) Jones v. State, (Fla.S.Ct. Feb. 13, 1986) (11 FLW 60)	34,35 40
<pre>1981) Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1984) Jones v. State, (Fla.S.Ct. Feb. 13, 1986)(11 FLW 60) Kilpatrick v. State, 376 So.2d 386 (Fla. 1979)</pre>	34,35 40 31
Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1984) Jones v. State, (Fla.S.Ct. Feb. 13, 1986) (11 FLW 60) Kilpatrick v. State, 376 So.2d 386 (Fla. 1979) Linehan v. State, 442 So.2d 244 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983)	34,35 40 31 38
Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1984) Jones v. State, (Fla.S.Ct. Feb. 13, 1986) (11 FLW 60) Kilpatrick v. State, 376 So.2d 386 (Fla. 1979) Linehan v. State, 442 So.2d 244 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) McClendon v. State, 90 Fla. 272 (1925)	34,35 40 31 38 34
Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1984) Jones v. State, (Fla.S.Ct. Feb. 13, 1986) (11 FLW 60) Kilpatrick v. State, 376 So.2d 386 (Fla. 1979) Linehan v. State, 442 So.2d 244 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) McClendon v. State, 90 Fla. 272 (1925) Pettijohn v. Hall, 599 F.2d 476 (1st Cir. 1976)	34,35 40 31 38 34 25
Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1984) Jones v. State, (Fla.S.Ct. Feb. 13, 1986) (11 FLW 60) Kilpatrick v. State, 376 So.2d 386 (Fla. 1979) Linehan v. State, 442 So.2d 244 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) McClendon v. State, 90 Fla. 272 (1925) Pettijohn v. Hall, 599 F.2d 476 (1st Cir. 1976) Quintana v. State, 452 So.2d 98 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984)	34,35 40 31 38 34 25 24

CASES (cont'd.)	PAGES	
State v. Bradley, 476 P.2d 647 (Kan. 1978)	26,28	
State v. Del Gaudio, 445 So.2d 605 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984)	32	
Stevens v. State, 419 So.2d 1058 (Fla. 1982)		
Tafero v. State, 403 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1981)	25	
Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14 (1967)		
Wilcox v. State, 367 So.2d 1020 (Fla. 1979)	31	
CONSTITUTIONS AND STATUTES		
Art. I, §9, Fla.Const.	21	
Art. I, §16, Fla.Const.		
Amend. VI, U.S. Const.		
Amend. XIV, U.S.Const.		
§30.09, Fla.Stat. (1983)		
§90.402, Fla.Stat. (1983)		
§775.087, Fla.Stat. (1983)	2	
§776.051(2), Fla.Stat. (1983)	37,38	
§777.04, Fla.Stat. (1983)	2	
§782.04, Fla.Stat. (1983)		
§790.07(2), Fla.Stat. (1983)	2	

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CARL ELBERT MOSLEY, :

Petitioner, :

v. : CASE NO. 68,314

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

CARL ELBERT MOSLEY was the defendant in the trial court and appellant before the District Court of Appeal, First District. He will be referred to in this brief as "petitioner," "defendant," or by his proper name.

Reference to the record on appeal will be by use of the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Count I of an amended information containing four charges alleged that petitioner, on March 24, 1984, committed second degree murder by shooting and killing Frederick B. Hendrickson with a pistol firearm, contrary to Sections 775.087 and 782.04, Florida Statutes (1983). Count II alleged that petitioner, on March 24, 1984, committed second degree murder by shooting and killing George W. Dyson with a pistol firearm, contrary to Sections 775.087 and 782.04, Florida Statutes (1983). Count III alleged that petitioner, on March 24, 1984, committed attempted second degree murder by shooting Randy Darwin Page with a pistol firearm, contrary to Sections 777.04 and 782.04, Florida Statutes (1983). Count IV alleged that petitioner, on March 24, 1984, used a firearm during the commission of a murder, contrary to Section 790.07(2), Florida Statutes (1983) (R-51-52).

Petitioner proceeded to a trial by a jury.

John Moore, a deputy in charge of communications at the Clay County Sheriff's Department, testified that at 8:53 p.m. on March 24, 1984, petitioner telephoned the sheriff's department. That conversation was recorded, and the following was played before the jury:

"Clay County Sheriff's Office. May I help you?"

"Yes, ma'am. This is Carl E. Mosley. I'm a special deputy sheriff and there's a bunch of damn drunks piled

up in a ditch over here in front of my house here, and I need you to send a deputy out there as soon as he can get here."

"Okay. Hold on just a minute, please. Okay, sir. Where are they at?"

"They are right here in front of 204 Deer Trail and 209 Deer Trail. I don't know. There are three or four damn carloads piled up over in that damn ditch over there, and I went over and told them who I was. I told them I was a deputy sheriff myself, and they said, 'To hell with you. I don't mind you. You don't mean a God-damned thing to me.

"So send me some help out here right quick. If you don't, I'm liable to take some action."

"Okay. Your phone number, please?"

"Yeah."

"Your phone number?"

"1769, 282."

"1769,282?"

"yeah."

"Okay. How many people out there partying?"

"Damn if I know. Three or four truckloads of them. Looks like they're piled up in the damn ditch over here."

"Okay. We'll get somebody out there. Okay? They're on Deer Trail, right?"

"Tell them to step on it right quick."

"Okay. They're on Deer Trail, right?"

"Yeah."

"Bye."

(R-213-214).

Officer Moore testified also that at 9:00 p.m. one Frances Templin phoned the sheriff's office. That conversation was also recorded, and the following was played before the jury:

"Clay County Sheriff's Office. May I help you?"

"yes, ma'am. My name is Frances Templin and there is a man out here waving a gun at everybody."

"Okay. Out where, ma'am?"

"On Deer Trail. I don't even--what's the address here? 203. I think they call him Mr. Mosley."

"Okay. Where is he at right now?"

"He's out on the road waving a gun."

"Right on Deer Trail? Give me a land mark."

"The address I just told you."

"Okay. He's right in front of that residence?"

"Yes, ma'am."

"Okay. Did he say anything? Did he appear to be drinking?"

"I don't know what his problem is. Some boys came down to our house because they'd put their truck in the ditch and asked us if we could pull them out. And we came out to pull them out and he's waving the gun at everybody, and I want somebody out here right now before he shoots somebody."

"Okay, ma'am. Ma'am, calm down. I have somebody enroute out there right now. Can you give me some details as to what he's wearing? What this, what the gentleman is wearing?"

"I don't even know. I think he's wearing a green jumpsuit or something, and raving on about him being a deputy sheriff or something, and everybody's under arrest, and he's pointing guns at people's faces."

"Ma'am, ma'am, is it a gun or rifle?"
"It's a hand gun."

"Okay. Stay on the line. What's your phone number?"

"It's 282-1973."

"Okay. Stay on the line. I'll be back with you, okay?"

(R-215-216).

Jennings Murrhee, Sheriff of Clay County, Florida, testified generally as to the duties of the Office of Sheriff. In order to be empowered to make an arrest, all regular deputies are required to take a 480 hour course; reserve deputies must be supervised by a full-time officer for 180 hours. Guns are to be displayed only in defense of the life of a citizen or that of an officer. Special deputies are appointed by the sheriff for a particularized purpose.

Sheriff Murrhee testified further that he has known petitioner for a long time. Petitioner served as constable, an elected position, for 16 years. In 1964 he was elected Sheriff of Clay County and served one term.

In January, 1984, Murrhee appointed petitioner a special deputy, in response to petitioner's complaints regarding speeders in his neighborhood. Referring to

Section 30.09, Florida Statutes (1983), relating to special deputies and authorizing their use in the event of natural disasters or to assist in quelling a riot or other breach of the peace when ordered to do so by the sheriff, Murrhee testified that he had not authorized petitioner to quell a breach of the peace on March 24, 1984 (R-217-225).

Frances Templin testified that at 8:45 on March 24, 1984, she, her son Shawn Young, and her friend Kent Young, were preparing to go to the grocery store when a man who identified himself as George Dyson approached them and requested assistance in removing a truck from a ditch. A person named Johnny joined them and all proceeded to the area where the truck was stuck. As they were in the process of attaching a rope to the truck, Templin observed a man approaching them, displaying a gun and yelling that all were under arrest. While over 100 feet away the man ordered that the rope not be attached to the truck. The man, petitioner, pointed a qun at Kent Young's face and told him not to move. George Dyson told petitioner that they knew one another, as Dyson had once helped petitioner build a fence. Petitioner replied that he did not care and that all were under arrest. Petitioner pushed the boys around, although, according to Templin, the boys were polite to petitioner. Templin and her friends then proceeded to a grocery store. On their

way they encountered a police officer and overheard an announcement over the radio that shots had been fired (R-232-245).

On cross-examination Templin testified that she did not notice petitioner had only one eye, nor did she notice his right hand (R-246-254).

Charles Kent Young testified that he and his girlfriend, Frances Templin, and their son, Shawn Young, were preparing to go to the grocery store when a man who introduced himself as George Dyson approached him and asked if Jerry, Young's neighbor, was home. Young explained that Jerry was not there. Dyson then explained that his truck was stuck and requested assistance. Young agreed to help. On their way to the house, Young picked up two more passengers, Bruce and Johnny, who wanted a ride to Bruce's house.

Dyson attached a rope between the stuck truck and Young's truck. Petitioner, displaying a gun, approached the group, ordered them to remove the rope, and ordered them to stay until the sheriff came. At one point petitioner pointed the gun at Young. Petitioner stated that they were all under arrest. Dyson and others explained to petitioner that they knew him. Petitioner replied that he did not care who they were; that all were to remain pending arrival of the sheriff. At one point petitioner referred to the boys as "a bunch of long-haired hippy mother fuckers."

Mr. Young noticed that Frances Templin had slipped away. Dyson told petitioner that the children in the area did not need to hear what was going on. Appellant stated: "Well, I have no reason to hold them [Young, Templin, Shawn Young, Bruce, and Johnny] here. He can go." Young left, along with Templin, Shawn Young, Bruce, and Johnny (R-254-267). Bruce Barbaro testified that he asked Charles Kent Young for a ride to John Hardy's house to get supplies so that Hardy and Barbaro could camp out next to Barbaro's house. They stopped where Dyson's truck was stuck. Barbaro's testimony corroborated that of the previous witnesses as to petitioner's waving a gun, informing people they were under arrest, and his profanity. From three to five times petitioner insisted that everyone stay until the police arrived.

Young dropped Barbaro and Hardy off at Barbaro's house. When Barbaro's father learned that petitioner had a gun, and that Barbaro's sister may be in that area, Barbaro's father directed Bruce to get his sister. Upon approaching the area Bruce heard several gunshots and saw George Dyson lying on the ground.

John Hardy, the next state witness, gave testimony that corroborated that of previous state witnesses Frances Templin, Charles Kent Young, and Bruce Barbaro (R-287-303).

Peter Lipkovic, M.D., was deemed an expert in pathology. He testified that he performed autopsies upon two persons,

George Dyson and Frederick Hendrickson. Both died from bleeding resulting from a gunshot wound. A bullet entered Dyson's neck, severed major arteries, and exited out of the other side of the neck. With respect to Hendrickson, a bullet entered his back and proceeded upward, fracturing a rib and perforating a lung, exiting on the fleshy part of the shoulder (R-304-315).

On cross-examination it was revealed that Dyson was shot at close range, a foot or less, and that his blood alcohol level at the time of the autopsy was .16. Hendrickson was carrying a knife (R-315-321).

Randy Darwin Page testified that he spent the day of March 24, 1984, drinking beer and fishing with friends, including George Dyson and Frederick Hendrickson. On their way to Dyson's house, Dyson's truck got stuck. Petitioner appeared on the scene, carrying a pistol. Later, petitioner shot the witness, Dyson, and Hendrickson from a distance of eight to ten feet. Seconds later, Page heard more shots fired. Page got up and ran (R-328-344).

On cross-examination Page admitted that all three had been drinking that day and that he was pretty intoxicated. In fact, Page remembered nothing about Young appearing on the scene and attaching a rope to the truck. Page admitted that they were hotrodding that night. Page could not recall petitioner insisting that they remain

until the police came, or that petitioner went to his house to make a telephone call (R-344-362).

Deputy Ralph Jones of the Clay County Sheriff's

Department testified that he and Officer Woodruff were
summoned to the scene. The witness first encountered Randy
Page, who had been shot. The officers proceeded to the
scene of the shooting. Petitioner, after three requests,
relinquished his firearm and holster to the officers.

Petitioner stated, "Come on down and join the fun. I just
shot someone." Officer Jones also checked the bodies of
George Dyson and Frederick Hendrickson for vital signs,
finding none. Petitioner appeared to understand what was
being said in his presence, because he responded to commands.
To the officer, petitioner simultaneously seemed to be both
"cocky" and "possibly in a state of shock." (R-364-384).

Officer Bobby Woodruff of the Clay County Sheriff's
Department testified that, after warnings, petitioner stated
that he had been a lawman for 30 years, and that he had
killed the sons of bitches. Petitioner stated further that
two cars had been drag racing and became stuck in a ditch.
After telephoning the police, petitioner went out to the
cars and, carrying a gun, ordered everyone to stay until
the police arrived. The boys took petitioner very lightly
and threatened to beat him up. Two of them grabbed
petitioner at each arm. The third, standing in front of
petitioner, grabbed petitioner's neck. Petitioner first
shot the person in front of him, and then shot the two

others as they were running away. When informed that one of the three persons shot was alive, petitioner stated if the police would let him go he would take care of that third person. Officer Woodruff detected a moderate odor of alcohol on petitioner's breath. Petitioner seemed angry and not remorseful. He appeared able to see and hear (R-392-420).

Annie Bell Mosley, married to petitioner's nephew and who is petitioner's next door neighbor, first observed three boys attempting to free a truck stuck in soft sand. Thereafter a woman asked to use the telephone to call the police, explaining that an old man was outside threatening people. The witness looked outside and saw petitioner. The woman called the police. The witness then held the phone, during which time several shots were fired (R-434-445).

Petitioner's nephew, Hilliard Mosley, testified that, at a distance of 100 feet, he observed three boys standing near a truck with petitioner. He then heard several shots fired. After the shooting the witness refused petitioner's directive to get more bullets. Standing over the body of one who had been shot, petitioner stated: "Die you son of a bitch. If I had another bullet, I'd shoot you again."

At no time did any of the three boys behave aggressively toward petitioner. (R-455-463).

On cross-examination the witness admitted that he and petitioner had a falling out with one another, and had not

spoken to each other for over a year. The three boys were five to eight feet from petitioner (R-463-472).

At this point in the proceedings the state rested (R-473). Petitioner's motion for a judgment of acquittal was denied (R-473-480).

Deputy Thomas Waugh of the Clay County Sheriff's Department, the first defense witness, testified that at Sheriff Murrhee's direction he delivered a special deputy card and badge to petitioner (R-493-496).

The testimony of the next defense witness, Martha Conway, a deputy clerk, was proffered. Through her testimony the defense sought to introduce into evidence the judgment and sentence dated February 8, 1984, indicating that George Dyson, born May 8, 1962, entered a no contest plea to DUI, and had his driver's license revoked for six months. The state's objection to its introduction was sustained on relevancy grounds, rejecting defense counsel's argument that the exhibit was relevant to show Dyson's motive for wanting to leave the area where his truck was stuck before any deputies arrived (R-497-504).

Defense counsel then related that he had just spoken to Randy Page, and that Page would testify, if allowed, that the main reason he and the others wanted to free the truck quickly was because of Dyson's DUI conviction. The trial court ruled this testimony inadmissible (R-504-517).

David Warniment of the FDLE, deemed an expert in firearms, testified that he performed certain testing on petitioner's firearm. Fourteen pounds of pressure is required to pull the gun's trigger. Propellent powders present on Randy Page's shirt indicated that the muzzle end of the firearm was two to five feet from the shirt when fired. No such powder was discovered on a hat worn by Frederick Hendrickson, or on clothing worn by petitioner (R-517-529).

On cross-examination Warniment testified that no propellent powder was discovered on a shirt worn by Hendrickson (R-529-534).

As defense exhibit #2, the defense introduced into evidence a statement made by petitioner to Officer Padgett of the Clay County Sheriff's Department (R-534-535). In that statement petitioner related that he shot the men only after the men had threatened him, and one of them had grabbed his neck and the others grabbed his arms (R-16-17).

After a jury instruction conference during which defense counsel purported to waive, with petitioner's consent, all instructions and verdict options on lesser offenses (R-538-539), the defense presented the testimony of Thomas Edwards, an opthamologist. Dr. Edwards testified that he has known petitioner since September, 1970.

According to the witness, petitioner lost his left eye in

a boating accident that occurred in 1943. In 1970, Dr. Edwards certified petitioner was totally and irrevocably blind. Pursuant to tests conducted October 1, 1984, petitioner could count fingers at a distance of five feet in bright light. A scarred retina area indicated that petitioner would strain to count fingers. The doctor also detected early signs of cataracts in appellant's remaining eye. Petitioner can detect forms, doors, and windows in front of him, and also people, although it is doubtful that petitioner could determine the person's race or sex. People with vision problems often adapt somewhat, and rely more heavily upon their remaining senses (R-567-583).

With the jury absent Dr. Edwards testified that he had constructed a special pair of glasses that one with normal or fairly normal vision looking through them would see approximately how petitioner sees under ideal conditions. The trial court ruled the glasses inadmissible in evidence because of a discovery violation and because the jurors could not compensate in the way petitioner has learned (R-584-589).

At the conclusion of Dr. Edwards' testimony the defense rested (R-592). Petitioner's renewed motion for judgment of acquittal was denied (R-594-598).

In instructing the jury, the trial court gave the following instruction:

Use of any force by law enforcement officer or any person summed or directed to assist the law enforcement officer is not justified if the arrest is unlawful or it is known by the officer or the person assisting him to be unlawful.

(R-655).

After the instructions, but prior to the time the jury commenced deliberation, the following occurred:

THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, the attorneys have called to my attention I haven't learned to read yet. There is a certain one I will read again. There is also one I overlooked reading to you that I will read to you. Both of them relate to the charge on the use of deadly force.

Use of any force by law enforcement officer or any person summoned or directed to assist the law enforcement officer is not justified if the arrest is unlawful. It is known by the officer or the person assisting him to be unlawful.

The defendant's use of force is not justified and cannot be claimed as self-defense if the defendant initially provoked Frederick B. Hendrickson, George W. Dyson, and Randy Darwin Page's use of force against him unless Frederick B. Hendrickson, George W. Dyson, and Randy Darwin Page used such great force against the defendant that the defendant believed he was in imminent danger of death or great bodily harm and had already used every reasonable means to escape from danger except the use of force.

Those are the charges they asked that I reread or read for the first time. You may now retire and consider your verdict.

[The jury retired at 4:40 o'clock p.m. to consider their verdict.]

THE COURT: Court will be in recess pending the jury verdict.

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