IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAR 19 1986
CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CARL ELBERT MOSLEY,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 68,314

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

PATRICIA CONNERS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

eyesight on the night in question, especially in view of the fact that petitioner had learned to compensate for this poor vision by sharpening his other senses. (R 583-588).

It is submitted that while the trial court did not make any express findings (and petitioner agrees that express findings are not necessary, petitioner's brief at 32), regarding whether the defense's violation was inadvertent or willful, trivial or substantial, and prejudiced the State in its preparation for trial, nevertheless, the court's inquiry was adequate because the record reveals that the violation was willful, substantial and prejudicial.

First, the court had been present when, according to defense counsel, the State was orally noticed of the defense's intention to use the glasses. The court, however, while recalling that the defense had told the State that it planned to call Dr. Edwards, did not recall any statement regarding the use of the specially prepared glasses. This indicates that the defense's omission was willful. Moreover, the omission was substantial because had the glasses been admitted, assuming they were relevant, they would have supported the defense's assertion that the petitioner's eyesight was very poor on the night in question, and the State, never having been noticed would not have been able to adequately rebut such evidence with its own demonstrative evidence or expert testimony. The resulting prejudice to the State would then be obvious. Thus, because the court's inquiry together with the defense's proffer and the State's voir dire clearly reveals the surrounding circumstances as well as the effects of the defense's discovery violation, the court's inquiry was more than sufficient.

Petitioner's second assertion under this issue, is that assuming an adequate inquiry was made, the trial court still abused its discretion by imposing the allegedly extreme sanction of excluding the evidence inasmuch as the State's case was in no way prejudiced by the discovery violation.

As noted by the <u>Richardson</u> court, "the trial court has the discretion to determine whether the non-compliance would result in harm or prejudice" to the opposing party. The State asserts that in the instant case the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the eyeglasses inasmuch as the prejudice to the State's case as well as its preparation was clearly evident. As a result, exclusion was the only appropriate remedy.

Specifically, petitioner contends that no prejudice to the State existed below because the record shows that the "state fully anticipated both the defense of self-defense and the fact that petitioner would rely upon his physical handicaps in connection with that defense." (Petitioner's brief at 33). Moreover, the petitioner notes the State objected only to the exhibit Dr. Edwards prepared and not to the doctor's testimony and that the State elicited testimony from State witnesses that the area of the incident was well lit and that the petitioner at no time appeared to have any trouble seeing.

This argument begs the question. The State may very well have anticipated the petitioner's defense and, as a result, presented testimony regarding petitioner's eyesight. However, because the defense did not give notice to the State with regard

to its plan to introduce the specially prepared glasses, the State did not have advance warning to present its own demonstrative evidence in its case-in-chief or to impeach the preparation of the petitioner's demonstrative evidence through either medical or scientific evidence in order to effectively rebut the defense's use of the glasses. Thus, simply because the State may have presented evidence as to petitioner's ability to see on the night in question does not mean that the State would not have been prejudiced by the introduction of the eyeglasses into evidence.

Finally, as his third contention the petitioner asserts that the glasses were relevant to his defense and should have been admitted on that basis. Recall that the State began its discussion under this issue with the argument that the eyeglasses were irrelevant and, as a result, whether a discovery violation occurred below was insignificant inasmuch as a discovery violation presupposes that the evidence is relevant and would have been admissible but for the discovery violation. As noted in the previous issue, "relevant evidence is evidence tending to prove or disprove a material fact." § 90.401, Fla. Stat. The burden of demonstrating the relevancy and, thus, the admissibility of evidence is upon the party offering it at trial, Nelson, supra, and because a trial court has wide discretion in this area, a trial court's ruling will not be disturbed unless an abuse of discretion can be shown. Welty, supra; Booker, supra.

<u>Sub</u> <u>judice</u>, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the eyeglasses. The doctor's testimony clearly

supported this exclusion on the basis of irrelevance. First, the doctor testified that the glasses were designed to simulate for a person of normal vision the petitioner's eyesight under ideal circumstances. (R 583-584). Thus, a juror who had poor eyesight and was not aware of it or someone who wore bifocals (R 585), would not be able to see what a person of normal vision would see in using the glasses. Indeed, the record indicates that three of the jurors wore glasses. (R 592).

It appears that the only way the defense could have ensured that the glasses were utilized for the proper effect would have been to conduct eye examinations upon each of the jurors to make certain that each had near normal vision. To undertake such a task would have been highly impractical.

The doctor also testified that he knew nothing of the conditions on Deer Trail the night of the incident and had not designed the glasses with those conditions in mind. (R 586). He also stated that someone with petitioner's eyesight eventually learns to adapt by compensating for his poor vision with the use of his other senses. (R 587-588). This testimony supports the State's assertion below that the glasses were both unreliable and irrelevant inasmuch as neither the conditions on the night of the incident nor the petitioner's adaptive abilities were taken into consideration when the glasses were prepared.

Consequently, the eyeglasses neither proved nor disproved any material fact, with regard to petitioner's defense that he killed the boys in self-defense that night. While they apparently showed a simulated version of what petitioner's eyesight would

be under ideal circumstances, the glasses did not prove what the petitioner's vision was like on the night of March 24, 1984 and they could not reveal how the petitioner compensated for his reduced vision. Moreover, the prejudice to the State was clear: there was no assurance that each of the juror's possessed the near normal vision necessary to properly utilize the eyeglasses. Thus, even assuming the eyeglasses were relevant to prove the petitioner's poor vision and no more, that fact had already been introduced into evidence through Dr. Edwards' detailed testimony (R 574-582) and, therefore, the introduction of the eyeglasses would have been cumulative³ and unnecessarily prejudicial to the State's case.

Petitioner's only assertion with regard to relevance in his brief is that the eyeglasses were relevant as a test or experiment and should have been admitted on that basis. However, because the petitioner at no time argued this specific ground as a basis for admitting the evidence below, and, thus, the trial court was never given an opportunity to rule upon it, petitioner did not preserve this contention for appeal, and therefore, this Court should not now consider the argument on certiorari.

Assuming, however, that this Court nevertheless addresses the merits of petitioner's contention, the argument must still fail. First, there is nothing in the record to indicate that

In this vein, the State would assert that because of the cumulative nature of the evidence, if this Court for some reason determines that the eyeglasses were relevant, the court's decision to exclude the glasses was nevertheless harmless.

the eyeglasses were the result of a "scientific test" or "experiment." Unlike such cases as Coppolino v. State, 223 So.2d 68 (Fla. 1968), where tests were conducted on the deceased to determine the presence in the body of any toxic substances, and Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 183 (Fla. 1983), where the alleged murder weapon, a gun, was fired into paper to determine the range at which the victims had been shot, the eyeglasses in the instant case were neither part of a test nor an experiment. They were simply prepared as demonstrative evidence. The doctor did not begin with certain hypotheses nor end with a "result." There was no attempt to narrow possibilities down to a single reasonable conclusion. Rather, as an opthamologist, Dr. Edwards simply utilized his skill to prepare a set of glasses, and there was no doubt as to the outcome of that preparation.

Petitioner further asserts that the judge's concern over the fact that the jurors did not have the benefit of the adaptation of the other senses which the petitioner had experienced went to the weight of the evidence and not to its admissibility. However, this argument presupposes that the glasses were relevant as a test or experiment, or for that matter, relevant at all, and, as the State has argued, that is not the case. Because the eyeglasses do not prove a material fact in issue with regard to petitioner's defense of self-defense, the issue of the weight of the evidence is as irrelevant as the evidence is itself.

In fact, the petitioner's argument under this issue supports the fact that the eyeglasses were irrelevant because petitioner

asserts that "Because the defense was self defense, the jurors were called upon to, in effect, stand in petitioner's shoes and ascertain the reasonableness of his action." (Petitioner's brief at 35). (Emphasis supplied). As repeatedly noted above, by using the eyeglasses, the jurors would not have been able to "step into petitioner's shoes" on the night in question, and, would not have been able to "ascertain the reasonableness of his actions" on that night. Therefore, the glasses have no relevance to the petitioner's defense.

As a result, because petitioner has not met his burden of proving the relevance of the eyeglasses, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the evidence, and given that the evidence was clearly irrelevant the questions of whether a discovery violation occurred and whether the court made an adequate inquiry into the violation are moot. This is especially the case because the court made two findings, one based on the discovery violation and one evidentiary in nature. Thus, based on the premise that if a court's order is sustainable under any theory revealed by the record, it is sustainable on review, notwithstanding that the trial court may have relied upon different, or (although not the case here) even erroneous reasons, Robinson, supra, the trial court's order sub judice, excluding the eyeglasses must be upheld.

Based on the foregoing, there is no question that the First District was correct in concluding this particular issue to be without merit.

ISSUE III

(RESTATED) THERE WAS NO REVERSIBLE ERROR IN THE MANNER IN WHICH THE TRIAL COURT INSTRUCTED AND THEN RE-INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE USE OF FORCE IN MAKING AN UNLAWFUL ARREST.

At the charge conference, defense counsel, <u>inter alia</u>, requested that certain portions of the standard jury instruction for the justifiable use of deadly force be given. (R 549-555). Defense counsel ran through those instructions they felt were applicable to the instant case, and specifically requested the instruction appearing on page 43 of the Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, which covers the use of deadly force in making an unlawful arrest and provides as follows:

Use of any force by law enforcement officer or any person summoned or directed to assist the law enforcement officer is not justified if:

- 1. The arrest is unlawful.
- 2. It is known by the officer or the person assisting him to be unlawful.

Contrary to what the petitioner suggests in his argument under this issue, defense counsel at no time requested that the court give section 776.051(2), Florida Statutes, ⁴ as the instruction

Use of force in resisting or making an arrest; prohibition.—

* * * * * *

Section 776.051(2), Florida Statutes (1983) provides:

⁽²⁾ A law enforcement officer, or any person whom he has summoned or directed to assist him, is not justified in the use of force if the arrest is unlawful and known by him to be unlawful.

but rather, specifically requested that the court give the instruction as it appears at page 43 of the Standard Jury Instructions. (R 549-550; 552).

In giving that instruction, the court stated:

Use of any force by law enforcement officer or any person summoned or directed to assist the law enforcement officer is not justified if the arrest is unlawful or it is known by the officer or the person assisting him to be unlawful.

(R 665). Subsequently, although it is unclear at whose instigation, the court reinstructed the jury as follows:

Use of any force by law enforcement officer or any person summoned or directed to assist the law enforcement officer is not justified if the arrest is unlawful. It is known by the officer or the person assisting him to be unlawful.

(R 665). Defense counsel objected on the ground that section 776.051(2) used the word "and" between paragraphs one and two and the court had not. (R 666). The court noted the objection.(R 666).

Petitioner now asserts that the trial court erred in the manner by which it instructed the jury with regard to this particular jury instruction. First, petitioner asserts that where the standard jury instruction conflicts with the law, the law prevails. However, neither the cases cited by petitioner for that proposition nor the proposition itself has any relevance to this issue. This is so, because there is no conflict between the standard jury instruction and the statute. The statute specifically reads "and" and, although the jury instruction does not expressly use the conjunction, neither does it suggest otherwise. The instruction

simply indicates as do many of the other standard instructions, that a jury must find both paragraphs one and two before it can properly conclude that the use of force by a law enforcement officer was not justified.

Thus, contrary to petitioner's argument, when the court reinstructed the jury by reading the standard jury instruction again, it cured any error it may have made in originally reading the instruction.

Moreover, it was the petitioner's counsel who originally requested the instruction as it is set forth on page 43 of the Standard Jury Instructions, and , thus, petitioner cannot now be heard to complain because the court reinstructed the jury using the exact phrasing of the instruction defense counsel had specifically requested. In this vein, if there was any error, it was invited. Sullivan v. State, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974).

Finally, it is the State's contention that if there was any error <u>sub judice</u>, assuming it was not invited, it was certainly harmless. First, it is well settled that a trial court's instructions are to be taken as a whole, and even if an isolated passage might be error if standing by itself, that alone is not sufficient ground for reversal. <u>Stanley v. State</u>, 357 So.2d 1031 (Fla. 3d DCA), cert. denied, 364 So.2d 891 (Fla. 1978).

<u>Sub judice</u>, the jury was fully instructed on all aspects of self-defense as they related to the facts of the instant case. Simply because the court initially used "or" as opposed to "and" with regard to a minute section of that instruction and then

corrected that instruction by reading verbatim the specific instruction from the Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, does not mandate reversal. Moreover, the evidence was overwhelming (through the testimony of Clay County Sheriff Murrhee) that the petitioner as a special deputy, had neither the authority to make an arrest nor the "right" to use deadly force. under the circumstances of this case. (R 221-225). As a result, because the evidence overwhelmingly suggests that the petitioner overstepped his bounds as a "special deputy" on the night in question, any error in the trial court's instruction was harmless.

Based on the foregoing, the First District Court of Appeal properly affirmed the trial court with regard to this issue.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, this Court should approve this cause on the authority of <u>Jones</u>, <u>supra</u>, and decline to address petitioner's ancillary issues or, in the alternative, this Court should affirm petitioner's judgments and sentences.